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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICAgt al,
ex rel CATHERINE A. BROWN and
BERNARD G. VEZEAU,

CIVIL ACTION
V.
NO. 056795
PFIZER, INC.
MEMORANDUM
SURRICK, J. FEBRUARY_29 , 2016

Presently before the Court is Defendant Pfizer Inc.’s Motion to DismisSF . 42.)
For the following reasons, Defendant’s Motion will be granted in part and demedtin
l. BACKGROUND

A. Procedural History

Defendant Pfizer Inc. (“Pfizer”) is a developer and marketer of pharmaceutidaicfso
headquartered in New York, New York. (Am. Compl. § 16, ECF No. 19.) Among the
pharmaceutical drugs developed by Pfizer was Voriconazole, an anti-fungahtivedia/hich
was marketed under the trade name “Vfendd:. &t 7 2.) Pfizer sought and obtained approval
from the United States Food and Diygministration (“FDA”) to market Vfend as a firtine
treatment for invasive aspergillosis and for candidemia in non-neuotropenigr(mumo
suppressed) patientsld(at ¥ 40.5

Relator Catherine A. Brown is a native of South Africa who was employéiisr.

(Am. Compl. § 14.) Brown was initially employed by Pfizer in January of 1995 inrRfize

t“Neutropenic” or immuno-suppressed patients have serious illnesses and include
transplant recipients, chemotherapy patients, and those with Acquired Inteficiency
Syndrome (“AIDS”). (Am. Compl. 1 2.)
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Johannesburg, South Africa branchd.)( In March of 1997, Brown was promoted to South
African Product Manager for the antifungal Diflucamhd.) In Jamary of 2000, Brown accepted a
position as Marketing Manager with Pfizer Global Pharmaceuticals in Nelwand was
promoted to Senior Marketing Manager in January of 20@2) Brown was a Senior Marketing
Manager until she resigned, effective Novembe2005. id.)

Relator Bernard G. Vezeau is a Major in the United States Army Reserveaw/ihwibe
been employed by Pfizerld( at  15.) From 1989 through 1992, Vezeau was a sales
representativéor Pfizer with one of the highest-producing salesttaies in the United States.
(Id.) In November of 2003, Vezeau rejoined Pfizer and served as Senior Product Manager on
Pfizer's Worldwide Vfend Marketing Team until December 21, 2008.) (

Relators filed aui tamComplaint, under seal, on December 29, 2005, pursuant to the
Federal False Claims Act (“FCA”), 31 U.S.C. 88 37@9seq on behalf of the United States.
Relators alleged one count of an FCA violation, specifically that Defendzae fraudulent
representations and statements to the FDA in Vfend’s New Drug ApplicatiorA{)NIDd
through the off-label promotion of Vfend for empiric use and in neutropenic patierdsp{C[1
155-157, 170, ECF No. 1.) Nearly four years later, on December 1, 2009, Relators filed an

Amended Complaint on behalf of the United States, twentystated

*These states and their corresponding false clagnstatutes include: California
(California False Claims Act, Cal. Gov. Code 88 12&f&eq); Delaware (Delaware False
Claims & Reporting Act, 6 Del. C. 88§ 12(dt, seq); Florida (Florida False Claims Act, Fla. Stat.
Ann. 88 68.081et seq); Georgia(Georgia False Medicaid Claims Act, O.C.G.A. 88 49-4-#68,
seq); Hawaii (Hawaii False Claims Act, Haw. Rev. Stat. §-@81a)(3)); lllinois (the lllinois
Whistleblower Reward & Protection Act, 74 Ill. Comp. Stat. 88 ¥fSeq); Indiana (Indiana
False Claims and Whistleblowers Protection Act, Ind. Code Ann. 8§ 5:8}t-l ouisiana
(Louisiana Medical Assistance Program Integrity Law, La. Rev. Stan. 88 46:437et seq),
Massachusetts (Massachusetts False Claims Law, Mass. Gen. Laws ch, é2gg)5
Michigan (Michigan Medicaid False Claims Act, Mich. Comp. Laws 88§ 400&03eq. and
Michigan Public Acts, 1977 PA 72); Montana (Montana False Claims Act, Mont. Code Ann. 88
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two cities® and the District of Columbiawhich added twentgix claims, including one alleging
conspiracy, and otherslatedto violations of state and city law false claims acts. (Am. Compl

11 221540.) In its Amended Complaint, Relators allege conduct from the original complaint
along with the additional unlawful off-label promotion of Vfend for use by pediattierga and

for prophylactic therapy.Id. at 11 14044.) Specifically, the Amended Complaint contains

claims that Defendant: (1) knowingly caused to be presented false or fraudailes for

payment, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1); (2) knowingly caused to be made or used false
records or statements to get false auftulent claims for payment, in violation of 31 U.S.C. §
3729(a)(2); and (3) entered into conspiracies with paid “speakers,” meditadtima firms,

“experts,” and other third parties for the purpose of defrauding the United Gtatesnment, in

violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3)Id( at 7 202220.)

17-8-403etsq).); Nevada (Nevada False Claims Act, Nev. Rev. Stat. 88r857.0 10et seq);
New Hampshire (New Hampshire False Claims Act, New Hamp. Stat. Ann. 8§ 1§7 ¥éw
Jersey (New Jersey False Claims Act, N.J. Stat. § 2A1328ew Mexico (New Mexico
Medicaid False Claims Act, N.M. Stat. Ann. 8§ 2)-(C), andNew Mexico Fraud Against
Taxpayers Act, N.M. Stat. 88 44-94t,seq); Oklahoma (Oklahoma Medicaid False Claims Act,
63 Okl. Stat. 88 5053, etgg Rhode Island (Rhode Island False Claims Act, R.l. Gen. Laws 88
9-1.1-1,et seq); Tennessee (Tennessedde Claims Act, Tenn Code Ann. 88 4-18-163seq,
Tennessee Medicaid False Claims Act, Tenn. Code Ann. 88 71-21183); Texas (Texas
Medicaid Fraud Prevention Act, Tex. Hum. Res. Code, Ch. 36 §§ 3@&i088); Virginia
(Virginia Fraud Against Taxpayers Act, Va. Code Ann. 88 8.01-286.820); and Wisconsin
(Wisconsin False Claims for Medical Assistance, Wis. Stat. 88 2093&¢). (Am. Compl. 1
212-540.)

Each of these states notified the Court of their decision not to interveneawttors
pursuant to their respective statuteSedJuly 24 Order, ECF No. 55.)

®Even though Relators allege that they brought suit on behalf of the City of Chicago and
the City of New York, there are no specific Counts related to such claims.

Both the City of Chicago and City of New York notified the Court of their decisioronot t
intervene in this action pursuant to their respective statuSseJly 24 Order, ECF No. 55.)

*Relators filed claims on behalf of the District of Columbia, pursuatite District of
Columbia Procurement Reform Amendment Act, D.C. Code § 2-308.14(a)(1).
The District of Columbia notified the Court of its decision not to intervene in thanac
(Seelduly 24 Order, ECF No. 55.)
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After the United States Government declined to intervene in this action pursuant to
Section 3730(b)(2)(A) of the FCAwe entered an order on November 28, 2011 unsealing the
original Complaint. (Nov. 28 Order, ECF No. 32.) On May 7, 2012, we entered an order
amending our order of November 28, 2011 and unsealed all complaints filed in this matter. (May
7 Order, ECF No. 46.)

On April 9, 2012, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss seeking dismissal of R&lato
Amended Complaint in its entirety. (Def.’s Mot., ECF No. 42.) Relators filedspdRse to
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss on August 2, 2012. (Rels.” Resp., ECF No. 56.) On November
30, 2012, Defendant filed a Reply memorandum. (Def.’'s Reply, ECBNp

After the briefing on this Motion to Dismiss closed, the parties continued to file “notices
of supplemental authority.” On January 8, 2014, Defendants submitted a letter to thgCéur
No. 72), to which Relators submitted a reply letter dated January 17, 2014 (ECF No. 73.) On
February 21, 2014, June 19, 2014, September 29, 2014, March 3, 2015, June 4, 2015, and October
21, 2015, Relators filed Notices of Supplemental Authority. (ECF Nos. 74, 83, 85, 87, 90, 92.)
Defendant filed responses to each of Relators’ Notices of Supplemental iButiBCF Nos. 77,

84, 86, 88, 91, 93.)

®>Even if the Government declinesittervene, as it has here, Relatoray still pursue
claims pursuant to the FCA. 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(4)BiXchins v. Wilentz, Goldman & Spitzer
253 F.3d 176, 182 (3d Cir. 2001). Although it was entitled to do so, the Government did not file a
motion to dismiss the action. 31 U.S.C. 8§ 3730(c)(2)(A).
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B. Factual History

The allegations in Relators’ Amended Complaint involve the prescription drug ¥fend.
Relators allege that Defendatgveloped Vfend in the mid-1990s with the intention of having the
drug approved for use in treating aspergillosis, a fungal infection thatsré&suit fungi of the
genus aspergillus. (Am. Compl. 1 40.) Vfend was to treat fungal infections cauiked b
Candida genus of yeast, which can result in either a localized and topical infectiblood-a
borne infection. I¢.)

On November 17, 2000, Defendant submitted its first two NDAs for Vfend, seeking to
obtain FDA indications, or approval for use, fooptylaxis Therapy,Empiric Therapy’ and
Documented Therapy.(Am. Compl. 11 44-45.) Of paramount importance was obtaining FDA
approval for use in Empiric Therapy, which constituted half of all prescriptionemvfar
antifungal drugs, and serious Candida infections, which accounted for approximately 80% o
prescriptions written for treatment of documented fungal infectiddsat({ 4748.) Defendant
sought to have Vfend approved for “filgte” indications, that is, as the primary drug to treat

fungal infections. I¢l. at  49.)

®In consideration of Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(6), “we accept all factual allegations as true [and] congtrtantiplaint in the
light most favorable to the Plaintiff.DelRio-Mocci v. Connolly Props., Inc672 F.3d 241, 245
(3d Cir. 2012) (quotingVarren Gen. Hosp. v. Amgen, In643 F.3d 77, 84 (3d Cir. 2011)). We
rely on the operative facts as presented in Relators’ Amended Complaint.

"Prophylaxis Therapy is the prescribing of antifungal medications taskitpatients
who are not yet symptomatic. (Am. Compl. 1 45.)

8 Empiric Therapy involves the pre-diagnosis use of antifungal drugs whersigiphy
suspects a patient suffers fronfuagal infection. (Am. Compl. { 45.) In the United States, half
of antifungal drug sales relate to Empiric Theragg. &t § 61.)

® Documented Therapy refers to cases where test results have confirmed the specifi
pathogen causing the fungal infection. (Am. Compl.  45.)
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Vfend was approved by the FDA on May 24, 2002. &t § 53.) The FDA approved
Vfend for treatment of invasive aspergillosis and second line or “salvagipih for fungal
infections caused by specific pathogensl. 4t 1 53;see alscAm. Compl. Ex. A. (“Vfend is
indicated for use in the treatment of the following fungal infections: InvaspergiBosis . . .
Candidemia in non-neutropenic patients . . . Esophageal candidiasis . . . Serious fungal infections
....").) The FDA did not approve Vfend for Candidiasis (blood-borne fungal infections) or
Empiric Therapy indication. (Am. Compl. 1 58-64.) On two separate occasions, inrffebrua
2004 and December of 2004, the FDA expanded indications for Vféhcht {1 6667.)

Relators allege that Defendant submitted false and misleading NDAs to the FDA fo
approval of Vfend and illegally marketed Vfend for &fbel uses. I¢. at 17 3, 69 Despite the
lack of an FDA indication for Empiric Therapy, Relators gél¢hat Defendant concealed critical
information from the FDA and the medical commuitgnd misrepresented the results of a
Candida 608 Study (the “608 Study”), including misleading statements about Vf#udisye
and the scope of FDA approvglAm. Canpl. § 70). With regard to the 608 Study, Relators
allege that “[a]t all time material, Pfizer knew that the 608 Study was seriousbdfland its
results grossly misleading because Pfizer had mistakenly switchedrttaaypand secondary
endpoints fothat study.” [d. at  71.) Defendant ultimately disclosed the fact that the endpoints
had been switched and requested that the endpoints be switched to what was origindég;inte

however, the FDA refusedld( at  77.) Relators allege that despite being aware of the invalid

10“Off -label” use connotes indications that were not approved by the FDA, but which are
prescribed by medical doctors. (Am. Compl. § 3.)

't Specifically, Relators allege that Defendant masked clinical test resultsfteated
tha Vfend was ineffective in treating C. glabrata, the fungal infection withigieeht mortality
rate, and concealed obscured the renal toxicity and attendant dangers of using Vfend to combat
fungal eye infections. (Am. Com].3.)
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results of the 608 Study, Defendant nevertheless exploited the study and usedtthtresul
market Vfend for uses for which it had not been approved or medically determined te.bsaf
addition, Relators allege that Defendant prevented distribution of harmful internal eotation,
including a white paper on Vfend (Am. Compl. § 1¥1¢mbarked on an aggressive campaign to
promote offlabel use of the drugAm. Compl. T 124}2 andprovided illicit compensation to
“community professionals? in exchange for promoting the débel use of VfendAm. Compl.

11 16768).

Since Defendant launched Vfend in 2002, sales of the drug have totaled approximately
$1.9 billion. (d. at 1 198.) Offabel salesvere approximately $950 million through the end of
2009. (d.) Relators allege that in conjunction, the misrepresentations to the FDA aiégimed
community, the promotion of improper off-label use of Vfend, and the payment of kickbacks to
various individuals to encourage the distribution of Vfaadresulted in false claimseing

submitted to federal and state Governments in excess of $250 millibat § 8.)

2Relator Vezeau was asked to write a C. Glabrata “white paper” for Pfizer employees
involved in the promotion of Vfend to physicians. (Am. Compl. § 111.)

¥ Examples of the campaign to engage in off-label promotion included the preparation and
distribution of misleading marketing materials to hospitals and sales reptessad the
publication of an inaccurate article in a medical journal. (Am. Compl. 1 124, 126, 129.)

“These individuals include physicians, pharmacists, industry officials, and “crsisade
who were compensated in the form of honoraria, preceptorships, travel expensesg spehkin
“training fees,” and appearance feédm. Compl. 11 46.) Without disclosing their identities,
Relators allege that Defendant paid at least nine physicians and pharméleists kind”
kickbacks for promoting the of&bel use of Vfend.Id. at § 172.) In addition, Relators allege
that Defendant employeinetwork of 350 to 400 paid Vfend speakers who conducted programs
on behalf of Vfend and who hand-delivered checks to physicians who assisted in promoting
Viend. (d. at 1 180.)
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C. Parties’ Contentions

Defendant advances six independent arguments in support ofshsofiRelators’
Amended Complaint. First, Defendant contends that the Court lacks subject mistiestion
over portions of Relators’ Amended Complaint as Relators were not theffilgt-a qui tam
complaint regarding certain aspects of Defendaft'$abel promotion of Vfend and that such a
failure bars those claims. (Def.’s Mot. 5.) Second, Defendant maintainsalatdi® Amended
Complaint represents an impermissible attempt to bootstrap an FCA action tgead aitgation
of the Food, Drg and Cosmetic Act.ld. at 8.) Third, Defendant argues that Relators’ theory of
fraud is contradicted by their pleadings and that the Supreme Court has conffienfE2A’s
ban on private enforcement suits on such clairts.af 13.) Fourth, Defendant contends that
Relators’ allegations regarding d&bel promotion of Vfend are insufficiently pleaded and did
not result in any false claims being filed with the Governmddit.af 14, 19.) Fifth, Defendant
maintains that Relators’ claims pertainiogkickbacks to physicians and pharmacists do not
relate to any false claims being filed with the Governmeut.af 25.) Finally, Defendant argues
that Relators have failed to properly bring false claims act suits putsu#uet various state, city,
and the District of Columbia false claims acts and therefore such claims musiriiesdis. Id.
at 27.)

Relators argue that they were the first to file claims related to Defendanéson of the
FCA, that their Amended Complaint is weleaded and provides detailed allegations, and that
Rule 9(b) does not require Relators to provide evidence of actual false clamapbading

stage. (Rels.” Resp:-&)



Il. LEGAL STANDARD

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2), “a pleading that stateisrafatarelief
must contain a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader istentitled
relief.” Failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted is loasissmissal of the
complaint. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). “To surviaenotion to dismiss, a complaint must contain
sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, ‘to state a claim to relief that is |garsits face.™
Ashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBgll Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544,
570 (2007)). “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factmatent that allows
the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable fostbadnict alleged.”
Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678&:iting Twombly 550 U.S. at 556). While a coumiust“accept all factual
allegations as true, construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the fplainatif
determine whether, under any reasonable reading, the plaintiff may bedewtitelief,” Phillips
v. Cnty of Alleghenys15 F.3d 224, 233 (3d Cir. 2008) (citations and internal quotation marks
omitted) “a court need not accept as true ‘legal conclusions’ or ‘[tlhreadbare recitaés of t
elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statementgVilsoti' v. City of
Philadelphig 415 F. App’x 434, 436 (3d Cir. 2011) (quotilggpal, 556 U.S. at 678 “A
complaint may not be dismisseterelybecause it appears unlikely that the plaintiff can prove
those facts or will ultimately prevaiin the merits.”"McTernan v. City of York, Pa&564 F.3d 636,
646 (3d Cir. 2009jcitation omitted). However, a plaintiff's claims “must contaimore than an
unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfulgrmedme accusatiofi. Fowler v. UPMC Shadysi¢&78

F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2009) (quotifgpal, 556 U.S. at 678



An FCA complaint must meet the heightened pleading standard set forth by Federal Rul
of Civil Procedure 9(b), which demands that a plaintiff “state with particy et
circumstances constituting the fraud or mistake.” Fed. R. Civ. P. Bftexeforg a plaintiff
must allege the who, what, when, where and how of the events at issn@€’ Rockefeller Ctr.
Props., Inc. Secs. Litig311 F.3d 198, 217 (3d Cir. 2002) (citation and internal quotation marks
omitted). There is a split among the circuit courts as to what the pleading requirement is to
satisfythe “particularity” requirement of Rule 9(b). The Third Circuit has adopted theaqipr
taken by the First, Fifth, and Ninth Circuits, which “have taken a more nuancedyeéthe
heightened pleading requirements of 9(lddglia v. Renal Ventures Mgmt., LL 754 F.3d 153,
156 (3d Cir. 2014jcitation omitted) UnderFoglia, “it is sufficient for a plaintiff to allege
particular details of a scheme to submit false claims paired with reliable indicia th&d kea

strong inference thalaims were actually submittédld. (citations andnternalquotation marks

omitted).
1. DISCUSSION
A. Federal False Claims Act

The FCA imposes liabifton anyone who “knowingly presents, or causes to be
presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval” or who “knowirddganuses,
or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a falselenfreladn.”
See31 U.S.C. 8§ 3729(a). The statute defines the term claim as “any request or demand,
whether under a contract or otherwise, for money or property and whether or nottdte Uni
States has title to the money or property . .1d."at 8 3729(b)(2). While “recovery under the
FCA is not dependent upon the government’s sustaining monetary daméaygsyi v.

Cleveland Gear Co., Inc250 F.3d 426, 429 (6th Cir. 2001), the purpose of the act is to protect
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against fraud “that might result in financial lossth@® Government.””’Hutchensy. Wilentz,
Goldman & Spitzer253 F.3d 176, 183 (3d Cir. 2001) (quotlagited States v. Neife/hite
Co, 390 U.S. 228, 233 (1968pee alsdJnited States ex rel.aCorte v. SmithKline Beecham
Clinical Labs., Inc, 149 F.3d 227, 230 (3d Cir. 1998The False Claims Act prescribes civil
penalties for knowingly submitting fraudulent claims to the federal govermntunder the Act,
the United States may bring a civil suit to recover funds lost through such trams&y; United
States ex rel. Wilkins v. United Health Groue., 659 F.3d 295, 304 (3d Cir. 2011) (“The
primary purpose of the FCA ‘is to indemnify the governntanbugh its restitutionary penalty
provisions-against losses caused by a defendant’s fraud.8)ifigMikes v. Straus274 F.3d
687, 696 (2d Cir. 2001)Rodriguez v. Our Lady of Lourdes Med. Ch52 F.3d 297, 304 (3d
Cir. 2008) (dismissing suit for failure to state a claim after finding that FCA clairmspatain
to pecuniary losses by the federal Governneemisk converting the statute into “a blunt
instrument to enforce compliance with all . . . regulations rather than only thosaticets that
are a precondition to a payment”) (citation and internal quotation marks omatteddated on
other groundsy United States ex rel. Eisenstein v. N.Y.C, 856 U.S. 928 (2009

In order to establish grima facieviolation of Section 3729(a)(1) of the FCA, a relator
must prove that: “(1) the defendant presented or caused to be presented to an agemitetithe
States a claim for payment; (2) the claim was false or fraudulent; and (3) ¢eneaietf knew the
claim was false or fraudulentUnited States ex rel. Schmidt v. Zimmer,,I886 F.3d 235, 242
(3d Cir. 2004). Section 3729(a)(1) thus contains a “presentment clause.” In order ttyprope
plead a violation of Section 3729(a)(2), a relator must aver that “the defendanbmueseel (or
caused someone else to make or use) a false record in order to cause the falséelaim to

actuallypaid or approved.1d. at 242. Section 3729(a)(3) imposes liability on a person or entity
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who “conspires to defraud the Government by getting a false or fraudulentatlawed or
paid.” 30 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3). To state a claim under Section 3729@)&ator must
properly plead that: “(1) the defendant conspired with one or more persons tolgeta fa
fraudulent claim allowed or paid by the Government; and (2) that one or more conspirator
performed any act to get a false or fraudulent cldiawad or paid.” United States ex rel.
Atkinson v. Penn. Shipbuilding Cdlo. 94-7316, 2000 WL 1207162, at *7 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 24,
2000) (quotingJnited States v. Hill676 F. Supp. 1158, 1173 (N.D. Fla. 1987)).

B. FCA'’s First-to-File Rule

Addressing firsDefendant’s argument that certain of Relators’ claims are barred by the
FCA's first-to-file rule, under the FCA, a relator is only entitled to relief if he or she is the first to
file the complaint.See31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(5) (“When a person brings an action under this
subsection, no person other than the Government may intervene or bring a rélateosased
on the facts underlying the pending actiinsee also United States ex rel. Merena v. SmithKline
Beecham Corp205 F.3d 97, 102 (3d Cir. 2000If a relator files a complaint under the FCA
based on the facts underlying the outstanding claims in a pending action, the court rplesecom
a claimby-claim analysis to determine if Section 3730(b)(5) precludes any portion afithe s
Mereng 205 F.3d at 102. In part, the fitstfile rule exists because “a relator who merely adds
details to a previously exposed fraud does not help ‘reduce fraud or return funds to tide feder
fisc,” because ‘once the government knows the essential facts of a fraudhEmesit has
enough information to discover related frauddUhited States ex rel. Branch Consultants v.
AllState Ins. Cq.560 F.3d 371, 378 (5th Cir. 2009) (quotlraCorte 149 F.3d at 234 In
construing the firste-file rule, courts should be “mindful of the need to presermlance

between the amendment’s two competing goals” of providagig§uate incentas for whistle
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blowing insiders” and the “discouragement of opportunistic plaintiffgfuntamactions.
LaCorte 149 F.3d at 234.
1. The Worsfold Action

Defendant contends that the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction under Rulé&)12(b)(
over allegations of off-label promotion of Vfend that were already the basigrwfrdiled qui
tamsuit. The parties’ dispute involves tt&se olUnited States of America ex rel. Paul
Worsfold v. Pfizer, IngNo. 09-11522 (D. Mass), a collateral lawsuit against Defendant, which
addresses issues similar to those raised in Relators’ Amended ComplainbrsRefaginal
complaint was filen December 29, 2005S¢eCompl., ECF No. 1.)

In conjunction with the original complaint, Relators filed a disclosure memoranaim w
the Government pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(a)(2). (Rels.” Resp. 14 & Ex. A.) The original
complaint and disclosure memorandum alleged that Defendant was denied aomébcat
empiric treatment in certain patients and that Defendant marketed Vfend to Sentsmiespite
having been denied such an indication. (Compl. 11 4Rél.’ Resp. Ex. A.) In addition,
Relators alleged that Defendant engaged in off-label marketing to promote Vfdmathor
empiric use and to patients with neutropenid. 4t 11 24, 53-54, 88, 91, 105, 152.) Relators
served the Government with supplemental disclosure statements on October 10, 2006eDece
31, 2007, and February 20, 2008. (Rels.’ Resp. 14-19 & Exs. B, C, D.)

On September 14, 2009, tidorsfoldaction was filed in the District of Massachusetts.
(Rels.” Resp. 19 & Ex. E.) IWorsfold the relator alleged that Pfizeropnoted Vfend and
Eraxis for offlabel purposes. (Rels.’ Resp. 19 & Ex. E 11 32-38.) On December 12609,
relator filed an amended complaintWorsfold this time alleging offabel promotion of Vfend

for Empiric Therapy and for use in pediatric pats, highlighting the FDA'’s rejection of
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Defendant’s requested indication for Empiric Therapy, and Pfizer's usarikting materials to
sell Vfend for use in neutropenic patients. (Rels.” Resp. 20 & Ex. F 1 20, 26, 45-61, 99.) That
same day, Relatofged their Amended Complaint with this CourtSdeAm. Compl.) Relators
contend that the operative dateAforsfoldstems from that relator’s filing of a fourth amended
complaint on November 12, 2010. (Rels.’ Resp. 3.)

There is no dispute that Redad here were the first in time to filegai tamaction related
to Defendant’s illegal marketing of Vfend. Relators’ initial complaint was fileBecember
29, 2005. Even taking the filing ¥¥orsfolds initial complaint on September 14, 2009 as the
operative date in that matter, Relators’ action precédmsfolds by nearly four years.
However, Defendant contends that Relators’ allegations pertaining to Pfiremetion of
Vfend for off-label prophjactic and pediatric use are preempted byogsfoldaction because
Relators did not assert these claims until their Amended Complaint, which wastilatief
amended complaint in th&/orsfoldaction was filed. Ifl. at 7 comparingEx. 2, D. Mass. Am.
Compl. 11 56-61with Am. Compl. 1 124(e), 140(a), 141-43 and Ex. 2, D. Mass. Am. Compl.
1 60,with Am. Compl. 1 144, and Ex. 2, D. Mass Am. Compl. 1 20, 35, 55yt4@m.

Compl. 11 45(a), 68(a), 124(a), 140(c), 147)).

The Third Circuit has provided useful guidance on reviewing two complaints for
determining whether the later complaint is barred by thetbréte rule:

Section 3730(b)(5) provides that when a person bringsaciion under this

subsectionno person other than the Government may intervene or bring a related

action based on the facts underlying the pending actéiving each word &
ordinary meaning, the phraseelated action based on the factsderlying the
pending action,’clearly bars claims arising from events that are already the
subject of existing suitsA later case need not rest on precisely the same facts as

a previous claim to run afoul of this statutory bd&ather, if a later allegation

states all the essential facts of a previodibdg claim, the two are related and

section 3730(b)(5) bars the later claieven if that claim incorporates somewhat
different details.
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LaCorte 149 F.3d at 232-233 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). “Stated
differently, the firstto-file rule applies when an der complaint ‘subsumes all the material
elements’ of a later claim or where a later claim merely ‘echo[e]s . . . the broadeli@ilegfat
the earlier complaint.’'United States ex rel. Cestra v. Cephalon,,INo. 141842, 2014NVL
5038393, at *4KE.D. Pa. Oct. 9, 2014) (quotingaCorte 149 F.3d at 238, 236). Application of
§ 3730(b)(5yequires a clainby-claim comparison of the original and laféed complaints.
See LaCortel49 F.3d at 235-360nly those claims that arise from events that are already
subject to the earlier complaint are barrédl.

A claim-by-claim comparison of Relators’ Amended Complaint it amended
complaint in theNorsfoldaction reveals that the allegations conagy the off-label promotion
of Vfend for pediatric and prophylactic use in both complaints are strikingijasi Both
complaints allege that Defendant promoted Vfendadstl for use in pediatrics by directing its
sales force to market directly to kdrien’s hospitals. Both complaints allege that Defendant
engaged in a marketing campaign to promote Vfend off-label for prophylactic psirpeseite
that fact that Vfend was not approved for prophylactic use. In fact, Relatmisial Complaint
makesno mention of off-label promotion of Vfend for pediatric use or prophylactic use. The
allegations contained in Relators’ Amended Complaint are based on the saraadautisrely
‘echo[] . . . the broader allegations” of ttorsfoldaction. As a resulRelators’ FCA claims
based upon allegations that Defendant promoted Vfenldlodl-for pediatric and prophylactic
use are barred by330(b)(5).

Relators argue that the Court should take notice of supplemental disclosuresythat t
submitted to the Department of Justice (“DOJ”) after their original complainfildgut

before the amended complaint was filed in\tthersfoldaction. Relators contend that the
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supplemental disclosures provided to the D@d#+ot given to Pfizer until after it filedsit
motion to dismiss—-put the DOJ on notice of Defendant’s off-label promotion of Vfend for
pediatric and prophylactic use. (Rels.” Opp. 31.) Defendant contends that Ratator
foreclosed from relying on disclosures to the DOJ as part of the recorfirkirta-file
determination, arguing that courts limit their analyses to a comparison of the casp{Bef.’s
Reply 4.) Relators respond that the statutory language of theofiik-rule in the FCA
depends on “the facts underlying the pending action,” which encompasses mohe thoam t
corners of the complaint and permits this Court to consider its numerous disctoshe®0J.
(Rels.” Opp. 2 (citing 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(5)).) We disagree.

The framework for considering arguments under 8 3730(b)(5) is based upon a
comparison of the claims asserted in the eafilied and lateffiled complaints.LaCorte 149
F.3d at 23536 (stating that the court “may decide whether the later complaints allege the same
material elements as claims in the original lawsuit simply by comparing the origahkdtar
complaints”);see also In re Natural Gas Royalties Qui Tam Litig. (CO2 Appezt$) F.3d 956,
964 (10th Cir. 2009) [The firstto-file bar is designed to be quickly and easily determinable,
simply requiring a siddsy-side comparison of the complairijs.United States ex rel. Ortega v.
Columbia Healthcarg240 F. Supp. 2d 8, 15 (D.D.C. 20@3Jhe only evidence needed to
determine if a comlpint is barred by 8§ 3730(b)(%)firstto-file rule is the complaints
themselves.”).Relators hav@rovided no authority, and we are aware of none, that would permit
the Court to look at extrardicial filings made to the DOJ in determining whether the court has
jurisdiction under the firste-file rule. In factthe case relied on by Relators actually contradicts
their position. InUnited States ex rel. Duxbury v. Ortho Biotech Prods.,,I5P9 F.3d 13, 33

(1st Cir.2009), the relators argued that information that they provided to the DOJ “in response to
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its inquiries concerning the allegations contained in the Original Complaint” should be
considered in considering whether claims were barred by thedifis¢ rule. The First Circuit
rejected Relators’ argument, noting that “[t]he fisfile rule is exeption free . .. and does not
permit us to consider the Informationld. (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). The
court also stated that “[h]ad [the relator] wanted to include the allegatiorsraxhtn the
Information he had his opportunity to do so when he filed the Original Complaint seven months
earlier.” Id. at 33-34. The supplemental disclosures that Relators provided to the DOJ will not
be considered in our analysis.
2. Leave to Amend the Amended Complaint

Relators request théhey be granted leave to file an amended complaint in the event that
the Court determines that the claims forlatiel promotion of Vfend for pediatric and
prophylactic use are barred by the fifile rule. (SeeRels.” Jan. 17, 2014 Letter, ECF No.
73.) On November 22, 2013t Massachusetts District Court dismissedWlmesfoldaction on
grounds that the allegations failed to state a cause of action under Rule &k J&nh 8, 2014
Ltr. Ex. A, ECF No. 72% Relators here contend that agault ofthe dismissal othe Worsfold
action thatactionis no longer “pending” for purposes of the fitstfile rule in 8 3730(b)(5).

The United States Supreme Court recently held thgti‘@&amsuit under the FCA ceases
to be ‘pending’ once it is disissed.” Kellogg Brown & Root Servs. v. United States ex rel.
Carter, 135 S. Ct. 1970, 1979 (2015). Kellogg Brown the relator'sjui tamcomplaint was
dismissed under the firgp-file rule as a result of a similar actions pending in Maryland and
Texas.Id. at 1974-75. After the actions in Maryland and Texas were dismissed, the relator

sought to file an amended complaint. The Supreme Court considered the language of

*TheWorsfoldCourt noted that because the case was dismissed under the heightened
pleading standardf Rule 9(b), it did noaddress Pfizer’'s argument that the allegations were
barred by the firsto-file rule.
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8 3730(b)(5), and concluded that the term ‘pending’ as used in the statute should be given its
ordinary meaning—*“‘remaining undecided” or “awaiting decisiola.”at 1978. In interpreting

the term ‘pending’ this way, the Cdwoncluded that “an earlier suit bars a later suit while the
earlier suit remains undecided but ceases to bar that suit once it is dismidsetliihder

Kellogg Brown theWorsfoldaction is no longer pending as a result of its dismissal. Relators
mayfile an amended complaint to assert the claims that were barred by the-filstule. See

id. at 1978-79. Accordingly, Relators’ request for leave to file an amended comylbbe
granted.

C. The FCA and the FDCA

Next, Defendant argues that Relators’ “franrdtheFDA-theory” fails as a matter of law
because it constitutes an impermissible attempt by a private party to ehfofeederal Food,
Drug and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. 88 3@iiseq (“FDCA”). Relatedly, Defendant argues that
Relators failed to allege that it misled the FDA in the first place because Ralatmede that
the allegedly switched endpoints in Study 608—which formed the bases of the FipAdsal
for Vfend—was an inadvertent mistake that widtsmately disclosed to the FDA.

The FDCA does not regulate the practice of mediciflgerefore physicians may
lawfully prescribe prescription drugs for débel uses.In re Schering Plough Corp.
Intron/Temodar Consumer Class Acti@Y8 F.3d 235, 240 (3d Cir. 2012). There is an
“asymmetry” in the FDCA, however, in that off-label prescriptions are ptaapibut
manufacturers are prohibited from marketing off-label uses to physidé&n&ection 337(a) of
the FDCA states that “proceedings for #rdorcement, or to restrain violation of [the FDCA] . .

. shall be by and in the nametbe United States. 21 U.S.C. § 337(a) (emphasis added).
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Defendant contends that Relators’ claims fall under the purview of the FDE€Aat the
FCA because Relatod® not identify any false claims that were actually submitted to the
Government for reimbursement. Defendant states that “§ijfieequa nomf a False Claims Act
violation’ is the filing of ‘an actual false claim’ for payment against a govent.” Def.’s
Mot. 1 (quotingUnited States ex rel. Karvelas v. Melroa&akefield Hosp 360 F.3d 220, 225
(1st Cir. 2004).) Defendant argues that bec&edators failto provide specific details about
how any reimbursement claims involving Vfend were ineligible for payment féiep make
out an FCA claim. Moreover, Defendant claims fRalators’allegations are more appropriately
characterized as violations of the FDCA, which forbids the marketing of drugffdabel uses
and thatny claims relatingo Defendant’s alleged misrepresentations to the FDA would be an
endrun around the FDCA'’s ban on private enforcement actiddsat(10.)

Defendant relies oBuckman Co. v. Plaintiffs’ Legal Committ&31 U.S. 341 (2001),
where the Court held thateliplaintiffs’ statelaw fraudon-theFDA claims” were preempted
by the FDCA and the FDA's regulatory schene. at 350 (“State laviraud-on-theFDA claims
inevitably conflict with the FDA'’s responsibility to police fraud consistentith the
Administration’s judgment and objectives.”Buckmans inapposite, and Defendant’s reliance
on it is misguided. The claims Buckmanwere state law tort claims, not claims brought under
the FCA. Defendant has provided no authority, and we are aware of ratrteagtextended the
holding inBuckmarto FCA claims. Indeed, courts faced with similar arguments raised by
Defendant have rejected ther@ee, e.gU.S. ex rel. Krahling v. Merck & Co44 F. Supp. 3d
581, 593 (E.D. Pa. 2014pejecting argument th&uckmanprecludes FCA claims, and
endorsing position by the United States Government that “[h]olding that only then@uarer

and not a relator, can litigate a False Claims Act suit arising from . . . condualaition of the
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FDA regulations would be inconsistent with the purposes of the [FCAkited States ex rel.
Franklin v. ParkePavis 147 F. Supp. 2d 39, 51 (D. Mass. 2001) (noting that “the failure of
Congress to provide a cause [of] action for money damages against a pharmaceutical
manufacturerdr marketing offlabel drugs [in the FDCA] does not preclude an FCA claim
where the manufacturer has knowingly caused a false statement to be made atsgetlairin
paid or approved by the government in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)”).

Rather thamimake generalized allegations with respect to violations of FDA regulations,
Relators allege that Defendant caused the presentment of false claims and tHalsseeaxfords
in having claims paid by the Government. (Am. Compl. $8\ccordingly, Relates properly
assert claims under the FCA rather than the FDCA and we consider those clhisistage
based on the applicable pleading requireme8te Krahling44 F. Supp. 3dt593(“Relators
allege that Defendant consistently and deliberately withpertinent information as to the safety
and efficacy of a medication from the governmehts this alleged omission that is the grounds
for FCA liability.”).

Defendant’s argument that Relators’ claims should be dismissed becausd¢hedswi
endpoints in the 608 Study was merely a mistake that was ultimately disclosed~@Ahs
rejected. While it may be true that Defendant disclosed the switched endpdihed=DA, the
Complaint alleges a fraud much larger in scope than Defendant invites uete b&ielators
allege that Defendant’s submission of the 608 Study with the mistaken endpoints baused t

FDA to grant Defendant approval to treat Candida infections and that such approval would not

* Defendant assails Relators for promoting a “franethe DA” theory of the case.
(Def.’s Mot. 810; Def.’s Repy 8-10.) As Relators consistently argue, and as the Court
understands their Amended Complaint, allegations about Defendant’s misnégress to the
FDA are relevant insofar as they relate to the indications granted bipfhete subsequent
off-labelpromotion of Vfend by Defendant, and the resulting false claims submitted to the
Government. Relators cannot and do not assert a general “fraud-BeBAfieause of action.
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have been given if the proper endpoint had been submitted to the FDA. (Am. Compl. 1 75, 83-
100, 105.) More importantly, however, Relators allege that “Pfizer knew that theél&B3BvEas
seriously flawed and its reks grossly misleading,’id. at § 71), and despite this, “hid from
view the lower efficacy and higher mortality rates among the patietitei608 Study who had
C. glabrata infections’id. at  87), and concealed the adverse test results from the FDA and the
medical community. According to Relators, despite knowledge of the dangers of ¥¥eated
by the 608 study, Defendant embarked on a marketing campaign that “cyexadited the
switched endpoints of the 608 Study by repeatedly, and fatdaiyning that Vfend was a
superior antifungal treatment.’ld() These allegations are sufficient.

D. Off-Label Promotion of Vfend

Defendant also argues that Relators’ allegations regardirglaf promotion of Vfend
are insufficiently pleaded undBule 9(b), and that Defendant’s promotion of the drug did not
result in any false claims being filed with the Government. Specificallyrdaht contends that
Relators have failed to allege with sufficient particularity that any false clammsiburgement
were submitted to federal health care providers and that as a result, Reladrofaiate FCA
claims. Defendant also argues that many of théab#| uses cited by Relators arefaat,
reimbursable by federal health care providers because they are deemed “medieptytdor
“medically necessary” by statutorigpproved drug compendia.

1. Particularity Requirement Under Rule 9(b)

To state an FCA claim, Relators must satisfy the particularity standard of (RuleT®e
Third Circuit has onfirmed that a plaintiff bringing an FCA claim need not allege the actual
submission of a false claim, but must provigarticular details of a scheme to submit false

claims paired with reliable indicia that lead to a strong inference that claimadusaty
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submitted.” Foglia, 754 F.3d at 157-58 (citation and internal quotation mankisted).
“Describing a mere opportunity for fraud will not suffice. Sufficientdaotestablish a plausible
ground for relief must be allegedlId. at 158 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).
The inquiry is “twofold: to satisfy Rule 9(b) first relator must allege particular details of a
scheme to submit false claims and second he must provide reliable indicia thatdesibhg
inference the schenwaused claims to be actually submitted for reimbursement by government
health programs.’'United States ex rel. Cestra v. Cephaldio. 14-1842, 2015 WL 3498761, at
*4 (E.D. Pa. June 3, 2015).

Relators have alleged sufficient facts with particularity to support their ¢f&its under
Rule 9(b) androglia. First, Relators have provided sufficient detail on “the who, what, when,
where and how of the events at issum’re Rockefeller311 F.3d at 217 (internal quotation
marks omitted) Relators allege with particularity an elaborate scheme by Pfizer to promote
Vfend offdabel for empiric therapy, prophylactic therapy, the treatment of Candelzionis in
immunosuppressed (neutropenic) patients, and for pediatric use. Promoting Vfendifor use
these areas involved Defendant making knowing misrepresentations of the 608n8tudy a
concealing data that would reveal risks associated with prescribing Vigaditular patients.
Relators allegéhat Defendant misrepresented the 608 Study through various means, including
training its sales force to use the 608 Study despite its flawed results, ergplespected
doctors known as “key opinion leaders,” creating speaker programs whevescoud
pharmacists were paid to convince others to prescribe Vfend, compensatingaphysici
“Crusaders” who were targeted highescribers of Vfend, hiring thirgarty “ghostwriters” to
write critical medical studies on behalf of highly compensated “key opinauietd to promote

the offlabel schemepaying pharmacists to promote Vfend to hospital formulary decision-
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makers, and making payments to physicians through “preceptorships.” (Am. Co@r, 11
171-72, 173-83, 186-88, 189, 194, 194-95, 197-98.) Reslateo identify with particularity the
individuals involved in the fraudulent scheme, including Pfizer employees and sales
representatives, physicians, and pharmacists. At times, Relators idethifse individuals by
their initials, for purposes of maintaining privacy.

Relators have also provided reliable indicia that lead to a strong inference that
Defendant’s fraudulent scheme caused claims to be submitted for reimbursgmewtinment
health care programs. Defendant contends that Relators’ FCA claims fail doesudid not
identify a single oflabel prescription that was reimbursed by a federal health care provider.
However, the Third Circuit has “never held thagai[tan] plaintiff must identify a specific
claim for paymenét the pleading stagef the case to state a claim for reliefFoglia, 754 F.3d
at 156 (emphasis in original) (citation and internal quotation marks om#ese glsaCephalon
2015 WL 3498761, at *5 (“Rule 9(b) does not as a matter of law, require that relater alleg
specific examples of false claims.” (citatiand internal quotation marksnitted));U.S. ex rel.
Underwood v. Genentech, In@20 F. Supp. 2d 671, 679 (E.D. Pa. 2q@@nying the
defendant’s motion to dismiss and reasoning that relator could not reasonably “bedrémui
identify at the pleading stage a specific false claim submitted to the Governneetititzy
party”). The fact that Relators did not identify a single reimbursement is nioioféit@ir claims
at this stage of theroceedings.

In lieu of identifying a specific false claim, Rule 9(b) requires some othebleldicia
of actual submission. In this regard, Relators allege the incrediblessuafd@efendant’s
marketing efforts in increasing the sale of Vfend and gaining an eggeompetitors in the

antifungal drug market. Since Vfend launched in 2002, its sales totaled approxipia®el
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billion. Forty percent of those sales were for Empiric Therapy, which warfeDA-approved
indication. Relators allege that, as of 2009, Pfizer received approximately 3860 mioff-
label sales of Vfend. This success, coupled with the marketing efforts thagéiespitals,
physicians, and pharmacists, to prescribe Vfend folab##l use, gives rise to a strong inference
that Defendant’s offtabel marketing scheme caused the submission of false claims to
government health care provideiSee Cephalqr2015 WL 3498761, at *5 (finding success of
defendant’s off-label promotion scheme and defendant’s efforts “to ensure tlediedff-
prescriptions were actually reimbursed by government programs” relaltéa under Rule
9(b)). Relators’ allegations@sufficient under Rule 9(b).
2. Off-Label Use Recognized by Medical Compendia

Defendant also contends that Relators’ claims should be dismissed becautéathed of
uses cited in the Amended Complaint are actually reimbursable by federaldaeafttograms.
As a result, they are not “false or fraudulent” for purposes of the FCA. Accoaibgf¢ndant,
even if the use of a drug is not listed on the FDA-approved label, a claim based on thay use m
still be reimbursed by federal health care programs if the use is recogniaeddwical
compendium.

“Whether a use is covered under federal programs generally depends on whetradr medic
items or serviceare reasonable and necessamy.S. ex rel. Simpson v. Bayer Cgordo. 05-
3895, 2013 WL 4710587, at *11 (D.N.J. Aug. 30, 201Bjugs that are prescribed for
“medically accepted indications” are generally considered reasonable and ne@ssary
therefore reimbursable under Medicare and Medicaid, even if they are prestiritadubb U.S.
ex rel.Gohil v. Sanofi-Aventis U.S. In®6 F. Supp. 3d 504, 518-19 (E.D. Pa. 2015). Under the

Medicaid statute, a “medically accepted indication” is defined as a “use for a coupatient
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drug which is approved under the [FDCA] or use of which is supported by one or mooa<itat
included or approved for inclusion in any of the compendia described in subsectioBj¢)(1)(

of this section.” 42 U.S.C. § 1398(k)(6). Under the Medicare statute, a “medically accepted
indication” is “any use which has beapproved by the [FDA] for the drug” or use that is
“supported by oner more citations which are included . . . in one or more of the following

[drug] compendia . . . unless . . . the use is identified as not indicated in one or more such
compendia” 42 U.S.C. § 1395x(t)(2)(B). “In other words, under the Medicare statute, an
adverse recommendation in one compendium overrides a positive recommendation in another.”
Cephalon 2015 WL 3498761, at *9.

Defendant contends that Vfend is listed as a “use” for “Empiric Therapy ifd-ebr
Neutropenic Patients” and for pediatric patients age 12 and older in the AmeoisitaH
Formulary Service Drug Information (“AHFBI"). (Def.’s Resp. to Rel's@Notice of Supp.
Auth., ECF No. 88.) The AHF#M is a recgnized drug compendium in both the Medicare and
Medicaid statutesSee42 U.S.C. 8§ 13968(g)(1)(B)(i) (Medicaid); 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1395x(t)(2)(B)
(Medicare). Defendant provided the Court with sections of the ABIF& Viend for the years
2002 through 2009.

A review of the AHFSDI on Vfend shows that “Empiric Therapy in Febrile Neutropenic
Patients” is an approved “use” for VfendSegDef's Resp. to Rel's2Notice of Supp. Auth. at
Ex. A.) Accordingly, it would appear that although the FDA has not approved Vfend for
Empiric Therapy, a statutordsecognized drug compendium has approved Vfend for use in
Empiric Therapy in Febrile Neutropenic Patients. Therefore, any of Relal@ms that are
based on prescriptions reimburdgdMedicaidfor “Empiric Therapy in Febrile Neutropenic

Patients” cannot form the basis of an FCA claim, and will be dismissee5ohil, 96 F. Supp.
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3dat 519 (dismissing FCA claims based on promotion of off-label use when use was listed in
statutorilyrecognized drug compendium). However, the same cannot be said for claims that are
based on prescriptions reimburdgdMedicarefor “Empiric Therapy in Febrile Ndropenic
Patients.” As noted above, to be reimbursable by Medicare, off-label use muppbeed by a
recognized compendiumand here it is recognized by the AHBS—but must also not “be
identified as not indicated in one or more” other statutorily recognized comperuaia. T
Medicare statute recognizes at least two other statutory compendia in atidiierAHFSDI in
its definition of medically accepted indicatioBee42 U.S.C. § 1395x(t)(2)(B). Defendant has
provided the Court with only the AHFS-DI. Relators will be permitted to explore through
discovery whether Vfend is not indicated for “Empiric Therapy in Febretidpenic Patients”
in those other statutorily-recognized drug compendia. Accordingly, we widlisimissat this
junctureRelaors’ claims that are based on prescriptions reimburgededicarefor “Empiric
Therapy in Febrile Neutropenic Patient$.”

Relators’ claims based on d#fbel promotion for pediatric use will also not be dismissed.
The AHFSDI does not clearly indicatewse for pediatric patients ages 12 and older. Under the
“Warnings/Cautions” section of the listing, the AHBSindicates that “[s]afety and efficacy [is]
not established in children younger than 12 years of age.” (Def's Resp. sofRibtice of
Supp. Auth. at Ex. A.) The parties dispute the meaning of the language contained ifr8e AH

Dl as it pertains to use for pediatric patients. Therefore, discovery assilst in reconciling its

" Relators also assert that false claims were submitted to other federal health care
providers, such as TRICARE, The Railroad Retirement Medicare (“RRM”) amgghe Federal
Employees Health Benefits Program (“FEHBP”), #imel Civilian Health and Msical Program
of the Department of Veterans Affairs (“CHAMPUSefendant has not alleged that the
statutory and regulatory authority governing payments of claims by findsel health care
providers refer to drug compendia like the AHFS-DI for determining whetkarde of a drug is
medically necessary. Therefore, any of Relators’ claims based on reimburseradetsy these
federal health care providers will not be dismissed.
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meaning. In addition, Relators allege that Pfizer promofedd/offlabel in pediatric hospitals
and for pediatric use. This use may include patients under age 12 in addition to those over t
age of 12. It would be inappropriate to resolve these factual disputes at thid stege o
proceedings.

E. The “Kickback Scheme”

Defendant also claims that Relators failed to articulate particularized factettzan po
the “kickback scheme” and have not properly pleaded a violation of the federddigkitiack
Statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1320#&(b)(3)(A)(F). (Def.’s Mot. 25.3% Defendant also contends that
Relators’ kickback allegations are fatally flawed because the physiciansthudpiiclaim are
neither identified nor part of the alleged kickback. (Def.’s Mot. 26.) Notwithstgndi
Defendant’s arguments to the comgreRelators have satisfied Rule 9(b)’s burden. Relators have
set out Defendant’s alleged actions from as far back as 2002. (Am. Compl. 11 40, 126.)
Specifically, Relators alleg@ter alia, that Defendant “misrepresented and concealed the true
import o the 608 Study which was used to obtain approval in 2004 for use of Vfend in treating
invasive Candida fungal infectich@d. at I 70), paid physicians to submit an article to the New
England Journal of Medicine advocating for off-label use of Vfend in 2002t( 126),
distributed misleading marketing materials to sales representative®ehods starting in May of
2002 (d. at § 127), and provided illegal kickbacks to physicians and pharmacists for the purpose
of influencing their behavioid. at § 168). Relators allege that as a result of these unlawful acts,
Defendant contributed to the filing of over $250 million in false claind. af 1 8.) With the
benefit of discovery, Relators may establish these claims. RelatorsideméComplaint

contains thorough allegations of a complex scheme to defraud the federal Goveriimeaisev

® Relators’ Amended Complaint does not allege a violation of theiokiback Statute.
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claims. At this stage of the proceedings, Relators have satisfied Rute@¢aping
requirements.

F. Specific Intent and Conspiracy

Defendant also argudisat Relators fail to plead specific intent as required by Section
3729(a)(2). (Def.’s Mot. 30.) “To make psima faciecase, a FCA plaintiff must allege that the
defendant, at the time it submitted its false or fraudulent claims, (1) [had] actwdétlge of
the information; or (2) act[ed] in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity offitwenation
alleged to be false.United States v. Merekledco Managed Care, LLL336 F. Supp. 2d 430,
440 (E.D. Pa. 2004) (internal quotation and citation @ua)tt Here, Relator alleges that
Defendant’s marketing activities created the market for thiabél use of Vfend and that
Defendant purposefully encouraged such a use even though it had no credible evidence that
Vfend would be effective in that context. Relators have properly pleaded a violaBewctain
3729(a)(2).

Defendant also maintains that Relators fail to plead a conspiracy claim untien Sec
3729(a)(3). (Def.’s Mot. 31.) The conduct that Relators highlight in their Amended &iampl
establshes that Defendant conspired with physicians, pharmacists, sales represergnd
speakers to promote Vfend for the purpose of filing false claims and that thesmpesdfacts to
ensure such claims were filed. Specifically, Relators allege that @sefes illicit compensation
of physicians and pharmacists was intended to unduly influence prescribers aruwhgeaisrs
with respect to the off-label use of Vfend. (Am. Compl. 1 168.) Indeed, Reidétify a
number of speakergd( at 1 18), sales representativg®d. at  189), pharmacistsi(at 11 172,
192), and physiciansd, at 1 172, 197), who were compensated in this manner. Relators have

properly pleaded a violation of Section 3729(a)(3).
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G. State and Local False Claims Act Claims

Finally, Defendant argues that Relators fail to comply with relevant filing and diselosu
requirements in the various state and city claims asserted pursuant tol$eceldims acts’
(Def.’s Mot. 32.) Principally, Defendant maintains that Relatdegegaw claims must be
dismissed because they have not pled specific violations of state fraud statliyeseg Foglia
v. Renal Ventures Mgmto. 09-1552, 2011 WL 5882020, at *8 (D.N.J. Nov. 23, 20Wh)ted
States ex rel. Wall v. Vista Hospicer€alnc, 778 F. Supp. 2d 709, 723 (N.D. Tex. 2011)
(“[Relator] provides no details of the alleged fraud in the other states, but dopptezerly, even
where the allegations are stated on information and belief, a plaintiff nidigttean the
complairt the facts supporting the belief.”). Relators submit that no such specifiogéssary
at the pleading stage. (Rels.” Resp. 54.)

In light of our finding that Relators need not provide evidence of actual false cldings a
pleading stagesee infraat Section III.A.3, we will not require Relators to provide specific
details particularized for each state allegedly defrauded by Defendimued acts.

1. Michigan Claim

Defendant maintains that Relatocgaims under the Michigan Medicaid False Claims
Act, 88 400.601et seqare statutorily barred by Michigan’s Comp. Laws 8§ 600.2946. (Def.’s
Mot. 34.) In doing so, Defendant relies on the decisiohttorney General v. Merck Sharp &
Dohme Corp.807 N.W.2d 343 (2011). Merck the court of ppeals ruled that the State of
Michigan could not assert a state false claims act suit against Merck for esemgations

related to the safety and efficacy of the prescription drug Vidaxat344. In doing so, the

Y Relators respond that they did, in fact, provide each relevant state with notice of the
Amended Complaint under seal. (Rels.” Resp. 54.) Considering Defendant’s threadbare
argument and the fact that each state notified the Court of their intention notvenetsee
July 24 Order, ECF No. 55, we find that the record ssiggeelators complied with relevant
filing and disclosure requirements.
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court reasoned that the “safety and efficacy of Vioxx is central to plairgifims” and that the
case was a products liability action such that Merck was immune from suit urctegém bw.
Id. at 349 (citing MCL 8§ 600.2946(5)). Unlikglerck here we confront allegations of débel
promotion of a prescription drug for uses beyond the FDA'’s approval. Accordingly, at this
stage, Relators’ claims under the Michigan Medicaid False Claims Act may proceed
2. New Mexico Claims

Defendant contends thBelators are not “affected persons” under the New Mexico
Medicaid False Claims Act, N.M. Stat. Ann. § 274{A)-(C), and have failed to obtain a
“substantial evidence” determination necessary fpuidamaction. (Def.’s Mot. 33-34.)
Having failed to obtain authorization from the New Mexico Attorney GeneralidRglagree to
dismiss their New Mexico claims, Counts 18 and 19, under the New Mexico Medicaid False
Claims Act, and New Mexico Fraud Against Taxpayers Act, N.M. Stat. 88 441{9s#(
(Rels.”Resp. 55.) Accordingly, Counts 18 and 19 are dismissed without prejudice.

3. New York City and City of Chicago Claims

Defendant contends that Relators claim to have brought this action on behalf ofthe Cit
of New York and the City of Chicago, but have failed to include any such counts in their
Amended Complaint, and that Relators have effectively abandoned such claimss ND&f.’
32.) Rather than abandoning such claims, Relators have simply not properly pleadieshsiola
of the false claims acta those cities.Moreover, as noted above, the City of Chicago and the
City of New York notified the Court of their decision not to interve8ee infraat Section I.A

n.3.
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V. CONCLUSION
Based upon the foregoing, Defentla Motion to Dismiss thémended Complaint will
be granted in part and denied in part.

An appropriate Order follows.

BY THE COURT:
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R. BARCLAY SURRICK, J.

31



